

METADATA THE HEARING MAP

April 2016

Version: 1 First published: 14 April 2016 Last modified: 14 April 2016

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	4
2. ADULT HEARING LOSS	5
2.1 SUMMARY	5
2.2 ADULT HEARING LOSS MODEL	5
2.3 ADULT HEARING LOSS - ENGLAND	8
2.3.1 – CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS	8
2.3.2 – LOCAL AUTHORITIES	8
2.4 ADULT HEARING LOSS - NORTHERN IRELAND	9
2.4.1 - Health & Social Services Board	9
2.4.2 - NORTHERN IRELAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT DISTRICTS	9
2.5 ADULT HEARING LOSS - SCOTLAND	10
2.5.1 – HEALTH BOARD	10
2.5.2 - COUNCIL AREAS 2.6 ADULT HEARING LOSS - WALES	10 11
2.6.1 – Local Authorities	11
2.0.1 - LOCAL AUTHORITIES	
3. CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS – HIGH UNCERTAINTY	12
3.1 SUMMARY	12
3.2 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - ENGLAND	13
3.2.1 – CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS	13
3.2.2 – Local Authorities	13
3.3 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - NORTHERN IRELAND	13
3.3.1 - HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES BOARD	13
3.3.2 - Northern Ireland Local Government Districts 3.4 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - SCOTLAND	13 14
3.4 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - SCOTLAND 3.4.1 – Health Board	14
3.4.2 - Council Areas	14
3.5 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - WALES	14
3.5.1 – Local Authorities	14
4. TINNITUS – SIGNIFICANT UNCERTAINTY	15
4.1 SUMMARY	15
4.2 TINNITUS - ENGLAND CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS	16
4.3 TINNITUS - NORTHERN IRELAND HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES BOARD	16
4.4 TINNITUS - SCOTLAND HEALTH BOARD	16
4.5 TINNITUS - WALES (HEALTH BOARDS - TBC)	16
5. EARWAX – HIGH UNCERTAINTY	17
5.1 SUMMARY	17
5.2 EARWAX – ENGLAND CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS	18
5.3 EARWAX - NORTHERN IRELAND HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES BOARD	18
5.4 EARWAX - SCOTLAND HEALTH BOARDS	18
5.5 EARWAX - WALES (HEALTH BOARDS -TBC)	18
6. SERVICE LEVEL DATA	19
6.1. COMPLETED RTT JOURNEYS – ENGLAND, CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS 6.1. PENDING INDICATORS	19 19
7. REFERENCES	20

ABOUT THIS DOCUMENT

This document explains how data in the hearing map and accompanying infographic have been derived. This is in order to improve transparency and accountability, encourage engagement with other researchers/organisations and to help improve the hearing map over time. The NCHA welcomes feedback and suggestions on how to improve this public resource, which can be sent to info@the-ncha.com. This document will be updated when new resources are added to the map and/or the accompanying infographic. Previous versions of this document will remain accessible, please email: info@the-ncha.com.

CHANGE LOG

Version	Date	Description of Changes
1	14-04-16	First publication

1. INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND

The NCHA researched and published the <u>history of hearing care</u> in 2016. A look back at the hearing sector showed repeated system failures because service planning was often based on past activity rather than local needs. It was also likely that the low priority assigned to hearing loss and structural challenges meant there were weak incentives to assess local need and to plan services accordingly. It was clear that without greater transparency and easier access to information, the hearing needs of millions of people in the UK would continue to be overlooked or misunderstood.

In 2015 commissioners and providers of hearing services in the UK still lacked access to basic local hearing data, making it difficult – if not impossible – to plan sustainable hearing services.

The NCHA is committed to helping providers and commissioners gain access to useful data in order to deliver sustainable hearing care in the UK. The NCHA hearing map is one way the NCHA is supporting providers and decision-makers change hearing services and mitigate the risk of repeated systems failures.

PURPOSE

The NCHA hearing map has been produced to improve awareness about hearing needs throughout the UK, and to help plan efficient, effective and sustainable models of hearing care.

The map aims to address information gaps and help local providers and decision-makers work collaboratively to meet local hearing needs.

The hearing map will remain free to access and will be updated and enhanced with new data based on additional research and feedback from partners and other contributors.

BENEFITS AND LIMITATIONS OF LOCAL DATA

As with all estimates there is a degree of uncertainty associated with any data.

Local prevalence/incidence data is particularly useful when risk factors for any given condition can be controlled for using local population data – i.e. where controlling for these variables can reduce uncertainty/variation association with local estimates. For example, in the case of adult hearing loss both age and gender – and especially age – are important risk factors¹ and whilst the average 2014 estimated prevalence of adult hearing loss across the UK was 21%, the range was 10% (Tower Hamlets) to 31% (West Somerset) at a Local Authority level. This variation was driven by differences in the size of certain age groups (and less so the gender mix within various age groups) of local populations, not controlling for this and estimates of 16% prevalence in each region – resulting in very different local planning assumptions, despite reasonably similar estimates at a national level.

Where epidemiological data is not as robust, local estimates can be subject to greater uncertainty and therefore only offer a rough guide to local needs. For example it is difficult to estimate the prevalence/incidence of earwax, tinnitus and childhood hearing loss, but by using the best available estimates it is possible to offer a starting point for analysis – which can then be improved with time. It is for this reason this document clearly states which local estimates are likely to be subject to greater levels of uncertainty.

2. ADULT HEARING LOSS

2.1 SUMMARY

A review of the available literature on the prevalence of adult hearing loss was conducted in 2015. It was decided the following study could be used to generate estimates of adult hearing loss in the UK population

 Davis, Adrian (1995), "Hearing in Adults. The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing", MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London.

The principle advantages were that this was a large study that reported prevalence in a British female and male population aged 18 to 80, and presented data for six age bands at different severities of hearing loss. It also offered estimated prevalence data for people aged 81 and over based on a review of the literature.

Population estimates were obtained from the appropriate statistical office in each country. 2014 data for single year of age, and female and male gender data was then organised into age groups so that prevalence estimates for adult hearing loss control for age and gender. Section 2.2 provides greater detail.

2.2 ADULT HEARING LOSS MODEL

A review of the available literature on the prevalence of adult hearing loss was conducted by the NCHA in 2015.

The international literature showed significant variation in the prevalence of hearing loss across high, middle and low-income countries – largely driven by differences in definitions, access to immunization, medical care and life expectancy^{2,3}. Occupation was also shown to have an impact on the prevalence of hearing loss⁴ - but the impact varied, e.g. the local economy and health and safety regulations influenced the prevalence of noise-induced hearing loss⁵. These findings have limited the usefulness of some international datasets.

When comparing prevalence data across high-income countries, hearing loss was positively associated with age and male gender^{6,7}. This meant that prevalence sources that controlled for multiple age groups and gender were essential.

The NCHA therefore opted to use Davis's Hearing in Adults. The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing⁸.

Principle advantages included that it was primary research, included samples from England (Nottingham and Southampton), Scotland (Glasgow) and Wales (Cardiff), a comprehensive audiological assessment was performed, the study involved a reasonable sample (N=2,663) and three main demographics – age (six age bands), gender and occupation - were accounted for⁹. Akeryod, Foreman and Holman of the MRC Institute of Hearing Research also recently noted that this study remained the best source of data available for local use¹⁰.

One significant limitation of *Hearing in Adults* was that it only included subjects aged 18 to 80 years of age, and used the literature to derive estimates of prevalence in people aged 81 and over¹¹. The advantages listed above therefore do not apply to estimates of hearing loss in people aged 81 and over. Although studies in other high-income countries do give us confidence that hearing loss continues to increase exponentially in this cohort and that estimates of the prevalence of hearing loss in people aged 81+ provided by Davis (1995) are likely to hold¹².

cities selected at the time are unlikely to have been representative of the whole population – they appear to have been selected based on accessibility (cost/feasibility) for the Institute of Hearing at the time. Finally the study did not include any sample from Northern Ireland, but we here we found no other viable source.

It is also important to note that the MRC study took place between 1978¹³ and 1986¹⁴, but was only published in full in 1995. This was not a significant concern however because in high-income countries, such as the UK, age-related hearing loss was the single biggest cause of hearing loss in the 1980s and this remains the case in 2016^{15,16}. This means that whilst we might expect some drop off in noise-induced hearing loss due to the trend of the economy shifting from manual to non-manual work and improved health and safety regulation¹⁷, the ageing process is likely to remain the dominant risk factor and contributor to hearing loss in 2016¹⁸, just as it was in the 1980s¹⁹.

We did consider controlling for manual/non-manual occupation but this was fraught with methodological challenges. For example *Hearing in Adults* showed that people aged 18 to 80 from manual occupations were more likely to have a higher prevalence of hearing loss (17.7%) than those from non-manual occupations (14.2%)²⁰, but hearing loss typically occurs over a long period of time and the cost of modelling this effect would exceed any benefits¹. We therefore opted to use overall occupation. If providers and commissioners operate in a region that has a strong manufacturing industry they might find that the hearing map underestimates local prevalence, and those operating in a region with a historically service driven economy might find that the hearing map overestimates local prevalence. However, we expect this effect to be small in either direction and primary research would be required to improve these estimates.

On this basis, we decided to only control for age and gender (using overall occupation) because these were the two main risk factors that were likely to hold true at a population level^{21,22,23}. This does not mean that there are no other important risk factors that could (should) be considered. There are multiple <u>risk factors</u> for hearing loss, but the strength of evidence for each risk factor varies considerably²⁴ and the cost of trying (however superficially) to control for other variables was likely to far exceed any benefits from marginal changes in prevalence estimates.

The prevalence of adult hearing loss will also vary based on the threshold used to define hearing loss. Here we opted to use the convention of \geq 25 dB HL as the baseline threshold for hearing loss. We also decided to calculate hearing loss at different thresholds and provide these data in the accompanying infographic for completeness and transparency. It is important to stress however that, after speaking with experts in the field of hearing care, it is clear that there is a strong professional consensus that threshold readings in isolation do not define who will and will not benefit from any specific treatment. Thresholds only help to estimate how many people are likely to have reduced hearing and might seek help from a hearing care professional.

The other variable that influences estimates of adult hearing loss is whether researchers base hearing loss estimates on the better or worse ear. We, once again, adhered to the convention and used hearing loss in the better ear to estimate prevalence. This results in more conservative estimates than if the worse ear was selected – it is important to note however that an unsupported hearing loss in one ear can be disabling and there are valid reasons to derive estimates based on the worse ear, we simply made a value judgement to adhere to what is most widely used.

The hearing map and accompanying infographic therefore estimates the prevalence and number of adults with hearing loss (diagnosed and undiagnosed) adjusted for age, gender, and severity of hearing loss, using overall occupation. We do not present the upper and lower estimates (but do share these in table one below). If stakeholders feel that upper and lower bound estimates would add value, the NCHA can add these data to the hearing map – please email info@the-ncha.com.

The methodology we have adopted leads to more conservative estimates than when researchers use worse ear, do not control for gender and/or age or use manual worker estimates. One or more of these variables will often explain the difference between NCHA hearing map data and other sources of prevalence data in the UK – for example NHS England is likely to share estimates without

¹ It is also unlikely the effect was/is solely due to occupation and there are likely to be confounders such as socio-economic group, diet, smoking etc.

controlling for gender and therefore present slightly higher local estimates than the hearing map. Put simply, stakeholders might find that the NCHA dataset provides lower estimates of hearing loss when compared to other datasets. This is likely to be because we used the better ear average rather than worst ear average, and we have also estimated the prevalence of hearing loss for each gender for each age group and then summed these. We believe this is a strength rather than limitation.

The data in table one has been used to estimate prevalence in each age group from 18 to 80. The data in table two has been used to estimate prevalence in people aged 81 and over.

	Prevalence by age group (18 to 80), gender and overall occupational group; relates to better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz.									ır						
Gende r	Age Group	≥25	LCI	UCL	≥30	LCI	UCL	≥35	LCL	UCL	≥45	LCL	UCL	≥65	LCL	UCL
F	18-30	2.8	1.5	5.1	1.1	0.5	2.2	0.6	0.2	1.5	0.3	0.1	1.1	0.0	0.0	1.7
М	18-30	0.6	0.1	3.0	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2
F	31-40	2.9	1.5	5.5	2.1	0.9	4.6	1.2	0.5	2.7	0.8	0.3	2.2	0.2	0.0	1.2
М	31-40	2.6	1.0	6.9	2.6	1.0	6.9	1.7	0.5	6.3	1.4	0.3	6.2	1.2	0.2	6.5
F	41-50	7.2	5.1	10.1	5.3	3.3	8.2	3.7	2.3	6.1	1.6	0.8	3.2	0.2	0.1	0.9
М	41-50	9.3	6.5	13.2	6.7	4.4	10.0	4.3	2.5	7.3	1.7	1.0	3.1	0.4	0.1	1.6
F	51-60	13.2	10.2	17.0	8.1	5.9	11.1	5.3	3.8	7.4	2.6	1.7	3.9	1.1	0.5	2.1
М	51-60	25.3	21.1	30.1	14.2	11.3	17.8	10.7	8.3	13.7	5.6	3.8	8.2	0.8	0.4	1.6
F	61-70	29.4	24.3	35.2	19.6	16.3	23.3	13.3	9.8	18.0	5.6	4.3	7.4	2.1	1.2	3.6
М	61-70	45.3	38.4	52.4	32.1	26.6	38.2	19.7	16.3	23.6	9.6	7.4	12.2	2.7	1.7	4.3
F	71-80	55.5	45.1	65.5	45.5	36.5	54.8	38.8	29.9	48.5	19.0	14.4	24.7	4.5	3.0	6.9
м	71-80	66.6	56.8	75.1	48.6	38.8	58.4	41.5	32.1	51.5	15.8	11.7	20.9	3.3	1.8	6.0

Table 1. Prevalence of hearing impairment (percentage) as a function of dB HL ages 18 to 80

Source: Davis 1995, Tables: B5124-10 to Table B5124-11 (page 47). Prevalence by age group AND Male and Female for the better ear over 0.5, 1, 2 and 4 Hz²⁵

 Table 2: Prevalence of hearing impairment (percentage) as a function of dB HL ages 81+.

impairm of hearir	nce (percen ent in peop ng impairme d over the f	le ageo ent anc	d 80+ as I gender	a fund . Bette	r ear	
Gender Age Group ≥25 ≥35 ≥45 ≥65						
F >80 94.0 83.0 62.3 22.0						
м	>80	91.2	76.1	65.1	23	

Source: cited in Davis 1995, table 8.1²⁶

2.3 ADULT HEARING LOSS - ENGLAND

2.3.1 – Clinical Commissioning Groups

Notes	See section 2.2
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Clinical Commissioning Groups, England
Data sources	 Prevalence of hearing loss – table one and two (p.7) Population data: Office for National Statistics (2014). Mid-2014 Population Estimates for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in England by Single Year of Age and Gender. Release number: SAPE17DT5, Date published: 25 November
Methodology	2015. Prevalence estimates were based on overall occupational group and the better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz (see section 2.2).
	Estimated number of adults with hearing loss was calculated for each gender for the following age groups: 18-30, 31-40, 41-50, 51-60, 61-70, 71-80 and 81+.
	The total number of females and males was then combined to estimate local prevalence at a CCG level. Local prevalence estimates were derived for adults (number of adults estimated to have hearing loss/number of adults *100).
	This was done for hearing loss at the following thresholds \geq 25, \geq 35, \geq 45 and \geq 65 dB HL.

2.3.2 – Local Authorities

Notos	See section 2.2
Notes	See section 2.2
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Local Authorities, England
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – table one and two (p.7)
	 Population data: Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015
Methodology	Prevalence estimates were based on overall occupational group and the better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz (see section 2.2).
	Estimated number of adults with hearing loss was calculated for each gender for the following age groups: 18-30, 31-40, 41-50, 51-60, 61-70, 71-80 and 81+.
	The total number of females and males was then combined to estimate local prevalence at a Local Authority level. Local prevalence estimates were derived for adults (number of adults estimated to have hearing loss/number of adults *100).
	This was done for hearing loss at the following thresholds \geq 25, \geq 35, \geq 45 and \geq 65 dB HL.

2.4 ADULT HEARING LOSS - NORTHERN IRELAND

2.4.1 - Health & Social Services Board

Notes:	See section 2.2
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Northern Ireland Local Government Districts
Data sources	 Prevalence of hearing loss – table one and two (p.7) Population data: Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (2014). Mid-Year Population Estimates. Health & Social Services Board. Estimates for mid-1991 to mid-2014.
Methodology	Prevalence estimates were based on overall occupational group and the better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz (see section 2.2). Estimated number of adults with hearing loss was calculated for each gender for the following age groups: 18-30, 31-40, 41-50, 51-60, 61-70, 71-80 and 81+. The total number of females and males was then combined to estimate local prevalence at a Health and Social Services Board. Local prevalence estimates were derived for adults (number of adults estimated to have hearing loss/number of adults *100). This was done for hearing loss at the following thresholds ≥25, ≥35, ≥45 and ≥65 dB HL.

2.4.2 - Northern Ireland Local Government Districts

Notes	See section 2.2
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Northern Ireland Local Government Districts
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – table one and two (p.7)
	 Population data: Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015
Methodology	Prevalence estimates were based on overall occupational group and the better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz (see section 2.2).
	Estimated number of adults with hearing loss was calculated for each gender for the following age groups: 18-30, 31-40, 41-50, 51-60, 61-70, 71-80 and 81+.
	The total number of females and males was then combined to estimate local prevalence at a Northern Ireland Local Government Districts. Local prevalence estimates were derived for adults (number of adults estimated to have hearing loss/number of adults *100).
	This was done for hearing loss at the following thresholds \geq 25, \geq 35, \geq 45 and \geq 65 dB HL.

2.5 ADULT HEARING LOSS - SCOTLAND

<u> 2.5.1 – Health Board</u>

Notes	See section 2.2
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Council Areas, Scotland
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – table one and two (p.7) Population data:
	 ISD Scotland (2014). NHS Board (1st April 2014 configuration) Population Estimates 1981-2014, Last Release: 2014 mid-year population estimates released in April 2015. Source: National Records of Scotland (NRS)
Methodology	Prevalence estimates were based on overall occupational group and the better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz (see section 2.2).
	Estimated number of adults with hearing loss was calculated for each gender for the following age groups: 18-30, 31-40, 41-50, 51-60, 61-70, 71-80 and 81+.
	The total number of females and males was then combined to estimate local prevalence at a Health Board area. Local prevalence estimates were derived for adults (number of adults estimated to have hearing loss/number of adults *100).
	This was done for hearing loss at the following thresholds ≥25, ≥35, ≥45 and ≥65 dB HL.

2.5.2 - Council Areas

Notes:	There was an error in the ONS dataset. This was linked to age distribution therefore, because the methodology we used controls for age, estimates in Scotland at a Council level are slightly out due to underlying ONS data. The ONS aim to correct these data on 28 April 2016. The NCHA will update these estimates shortly after new data is released by the ONS.
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Council Areas, Scotland
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – table one and two (p.7) Population data:
	 Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015
Methodology	Prevalence estimates were based on overall occupational group and the better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz (see section 2.2). Estimated number of adults with hearing loss was calculated for each gender for the following age groups: 18-30, 31-40, 41-50, 51-60, 61-70, 71-80 and 81+.
	The total number of females and males was then combined to estimate local prevalence at a Council Areas, Scotland. Local prevalence estimates were derived for adults (number of adults estimated to have hearing loss/number of adults *100).
	This was done for hearing loss at the following thresholds ≥ 25 , ≥ 35 , ≥ 45 and ≥ 65 dB HL.

2.6 ADULT HEARING LOSS - WALES

2.6.1 – Local Authorities

Notes	See section 2.2. The NCHA has tried to obtain population data at a Health Board level, but this has not been possible. As soon as we obtain a reliable dataset for 2014 we will update the hearing map to include Health Board regions in Wales. At this stage we include Local Authority estimates only.
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Local Authorities, Wales
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – table one and two (p.7)
	 Population data: Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015
Methodology	Prevalence estimates were based on overall occupational group and the better ear averaged over the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4kHz (see section 2.2). Estimated number of adults with hearing loss was calculated for each gender for the following age groups: 18-30, 31-40, 41-50, 51-60, 61-70, 71-80 and 81+. The total number of females and males was then combined to estimate local prevalence at a Local Authority level. Local prevalence estimates were derived for adults (number of adults estimated to have hearing loss/number of adults *100). This was done for hearing loss at the following thresholds ≥25, ≥35, ≥45 and ≥65 dB HL.

3. CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - HIGH UNCERTAINTY

3.1 SUMMARY

A review of the available literature on the prevalence of childhood hearing loss was conducted by the NCHA in 2015. A child was defined as a person aged younger than 18 years of age².

There was, perhaps surprisingly, a paucity of reliable data on the prevalence of childhood hearing loss in high-income countries. Challenges included variation in the age of identification, small sample sizes, no uniform decibel threshold and other methodological issues.

The Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in the USA provides useful resources for researchers with a particular interest in childhood hearing loss – <u>available here</u>.

The CDC also provides a review of published literature on the prevalence of hearing loss in children, showing prevalence estimates that vary between 0.4 and 7.5 per 1000 children²⁷ - i.e. 0.04% and 0.75%.

The CDC states that European and North American studies have identified a consistent prevalence of hearing loss (40 decibels) in childhood of c.0.1%²⁸. This however might underestimate hearing loss in childhood, as more children are likely to have a hearing loss of at least \geq 25dB HL than \geq 40dB HL. In 2014 for example, White et al. noted that 35,000 children in England have a hearing loss²⁹, suggesting a prevalence rate of > 0.3%³⁰ - i.e. three times as many children than would be expected if using the CDC estimate of 0.1%.

In the end we opted to use 0.3% to estimate hearing loss in children. This was similar to what White et al. and others appear to have used in England³¹. This estimate however is subject to significant uncertainty given the paucity of data. We suspect the actual childhood prevalence of hearing loss is between 0.1% and 0.3%. We will update this resource if new studies add to our knowledge of the prevalence of hearing loss in children. Those using childhood prevalence data to plan services should therefore exercise caution when referring to this particular indictor in the infographic.

The relatively rare occurrence of childhood hearing loss – when compared to adult onset hearing loss – is also why we opted to present the prevalence adult hearing loss in the main hearing map and not the prevalence of hearing loss in the entire population. For example, including children aged 0-17 in the estimates of people with hearing loss (numerator) and the baseline population (denominator) might result in some local services under/over planning local capacity to meet the hearing needs of the ageing population.

² We acknowledge that by defining a child as a person aged <18 our estimates will be lower than datasets that categorise people aged 18 and 19 as children – note, hearing loss in people age 18+ is calculated in section 2 and therefore we do not double count this group here.

3.2 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - ENGLAND

Notes	See section 3.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	Children with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Clinical Commissioning Groups, England
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – 0.3%
	 Population data: People aged 0 to 17 from: Office for National Statistics (2014). Mid-2014 Population Estimates for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in England by Single Year of Age and Gender. Release number: SAPE17DT5, Date published: 25 November 2015.

3.2.1 – Clinical Commissioning Groups

3.2.2 – Local Authorities

Notes	See section 3.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	Children with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Local Authorities, England
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – 0.3%
	 Population data: People aged 0 to 17 from: Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015

3.3 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - NORTHERN IRELAND

3.3.1 - Health & Social Services Board

Notes:	See section 3.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	Children with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Northern Ireland Local Government Districts
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – 0.3%
	 Population data: People aged 0 to 17 from: Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (2014). Mid-Year Population Estimates. Health & Social Services Board. Estimates for mid- 1991 to mid-2014.

3.3.2 - Northern Ireland Local Government Districts

Notes	See section 3.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	Children with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Northern Ireland Local Government Districts
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – 0.3%
	 Population data: People aged 0 to 17 from: Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015

3.4 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - SCOTLAND

3.4.1 – Health Board

Notes	See section 3.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	Children with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Council Areas, Scotland
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – 0.3%
	 Population data: People aged 0 to 17 from: ISD Scotland (2014). NHS Board (1st April 2014 configuration) Population Estimates 1981-2014, Last Release: 2014 mid-year population estimates released in April 2015. Source: National Records of Scotland (NRS)

3.4.2 - Council Areas

3.4.2 - Council A	
Notes:	See section 3.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Please note there was an <u>error in the ONS dataset</u> . This was linked to age distribution, however given the prevalence of hearing loss in childhood we don't believe this has had a material impact on this estimate. The ONS aim to correct these data on 28 April 2016 and the NCHA will update the hearing map shortly after new data is released.
Indicator	Children with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Council Areas, Scotland
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – 0.3%
	Population data: People aged 0 to 17 from:
	 Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015

3.5 CHILDHOOD HEARING LOSS - WALES

3.5.1 – Local Authorities

S.1 Edeal Authorntics	
Notes	See section 3.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The NCHA has tried to obtain population data at a Health Board level, but this has not been possible. As soon as we obtain a reliable dataset for 2014 we will update the hearing map.
Indicator	Children with Hearing Loss
Time period	2014
Geography	Local Authorities, Wales
Data sources	Prevalence of hearing loss – 0.3%
	Population data: People aged 0 to 17 from:
	 Office for National Statistics (2014). MYE2: Population Estimates by single year of age and gender for local authorities in the UK, mid-2014. Release number: MYE8PE1. Date published: 25 June 2015

4. TINNITUS – SIGNIFICANT UNCERTAINTY

4.1 SUMMARY

A review of the literature on the prevalence of tinnitus was conducted by the NCHA in 2016.

The literature review presented several challenges which made comparing studies difficult, including: the subjective nature of the condition, no agreed or gold standard test, variations in question asked, variation in definitions and other confounding factors.

The literature focussed on tinnitus in adults. We therefore only focussed on adults (males and females combined).

Reviewing the literature on tinnitus in adults presented other challenges – e.g. some studies suggest the prevalence of tinnitus increases up to the age of 70 and then stabilises, but there is uncertainty about this trend³². It is therefore unclear what to make of changes in the prevalence of tinnitus with age. Tinnitus was also associated with hearing loss, so it was not clear what proportion of tinnitus was a symptom associated with hearing loss and what proportion was an independent complaint³³ – presenting obvious limitations for commissioners and providers attempting to plan services.

With significant variation of tinnitus with age, we decided to apply a uniform average prevalence rate to adults (males and females) aged 18 and over.

The literature suggests between 10.1% and 14.5% of adults might experience tinnitus³⁴ - in England this would equate to between c.5.5 and c.8.1 million people having tinnitus. However it has been suggested that only 20% of people with tinnitus are likely to seek help³⁵ – i.e. 20% the 10.1% to 14.5% of people with tinnitus might seek help (so 2% to 2.9% of the adult population).

Another subgroup, which we felt warranted special attention was adults that suffer from tinnitus that severely affects their ability to lead a normal life. The most cited study here was Coles (1984), which suggests the prevalence of severe tinnitus is $0.5\%^{36}$. Whilst this study is widely cited, it is important to note that tables 1 and 2 in the article by Coles (1984) suggests this figure was derived from the pilot arm of the study. The sample size was N=6804 (with 5000 useable responses) and the estimate was derived from a questionnaire³⁷. This is important because this 0.5% figure does not come from the main arm of the widely cited MRC study, as suggested when Coles (1984) is sometimes cited. The 0.5% should therefore be considered to be an estimate subject to significant uncertainty – i.e. it is not correct to claim the same advantages apply to this estimate as the estimates of adult hearing loss from the same study (see section 2.2).

Given the complexity associated with deriving estimates we ran various models. In the end we decided to provide commissioners and providers with estimates for the following two groups

- People with tinnitus that might seek help, range of 2% to 2.9%
- People that might suffer from severe tinnitus, 0.5%
- To avoid double counting, we opted to estimate people that might seek help using a prevalence of 2.5% and people that might have severe tinnitus as 0.5%, an overall prevalence of 3% accepting that the number of people experiencing tinnitus is likely to be much higher c. 10 to 15%

There is a need, in our view, to better understand the prevalence of bothersome and severe tinnitus in the UK so that services (including workforce training) can be planned appropriately.

4.2 TINNITUS - ENGLAND CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS

Notes	See section 4.1 – estimates are subject to uncertainty
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with tinnitus that might seek help, and those with severe tinnitus
Time period	2014
Geography	Clinical Commissioning Groups, England
Data sources	People with tinnitus that might seek help: 2.5%. People that might have severe tinnitus: 0.5%. See section 4.1. Population data:
	 Office for National Statistics (2014). Mid-2014 Population Estimates for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in England by Single Year of Age and Gender. Release number: SAPE17DT5, Date published: 25 November 2015.

4.3 TINNITUS - NORTHERN IRELAND HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES BOARD

Notes:	See section 4.1 – estimates are subject to uncertainty
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with tinnitus that might seek help, and those with severe tinnitus
Time period	2014
Geography	Northern Ireland Local Government Districts
Data sources	People with tinnitus that might seek help: 2.5%. People that might have severe tinnitus: 0.5%. See section 4.1
	 Population data: Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (2014). Mid-Year Population Estimates. Health & Social Services Board. Estimates for mid-
	1991 to mid-2014.

4.4 TINNITUS - SCOTLAND HEALTH BOARD

Notes	See section 4.1 – estimates are subject to uncertainty
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with tinnitus that might seek help, and those with severe tinnitus
Time period	2014
Geography	Council Areas, Scotland
Data sources	People with tinnitus that might seek help: 2.5%. People that might have severe tinnitus: 0.5%. See section 4.1
	 Population data: ISD Scotland (2014). NHS Board (1st April 2014 configuration) Population Estimates 1981-2014, Last Release: 2014 mid-year population estimates released in April 2015. Source: National Records of Scotland (NRS)

4.5 TINNITUS - WALES (HEALTH BOARDS - TBC)

1.0 11111100	
Notes	The NCHA has tried to obtain population data at a Health Board level, but this
	has not been possible. As soon as we obtain a reliable dataset for 2014 we will
	update the hearing map.
Indicator	Adults (aged 18+) with tinnitus that might seek help, and those with severe
	tinnitus
Time period	TBC
Geography	TBC
Data sources	TBC

5. EARWAX – HIGH UNCERTAINTY

5.1 SUMMARY

Anecdotally GPs, providers, commissioners and other stakeholder highlight earwax as a major challenge in terms of running clinics in an efficient and sustainable way. For service users a build-up of earwax appears to result in multiple visits and unnecessary costs.

This is why, despite knowing any estimate would be a gross estimate, we decided it was worthwhile reviewing the literature to assess whether we could provide at least an insight into the scale of problematic earwax at a local level. A review of the literature on the prevalence and incidence of earwax was conducted by the NCHA in 2016.

The incidence and prevalence of significant earwax varies with age for example: 43% of people aged 0 to 16; 5% of people aged 16 to 59; and 57% of people aged 60 and older might have significant ear wax at any time³⁸. We ran various models based on these and other datasets in England and found between 7.3 and 26.2 million people might have "earwax" at any point in time. These figures – because earwax is a naturally occurring substance – did not however indicate the number of people that would require support from a health care professional.

We therefore opted to derive estimates based on people with impacted wax because this is the group for which earwax is likely to be problematic³⁹. The incidence of impacted earwax is estimated to be $39.3 \text{ per } 1000 - \text{i.e.} 3.93\%^{40}$. We opted to use 3.9% to estimate the potential number of cases requiring support for earwax each year.

5.2 EARWAX - ENGLAND CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS

Notes	See section 5.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	People likely to seek help for earwax (all ages)
Time period	Estimates for number of people that might seek help in any given year (base year 2014)
Geography	Clinical Commissioning Groups, England
Data sources	Annual incidence 3.9% (see section 5.1) Population data:
	 Office for National Statistics (2014). Mid-2014 Population Estimates for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in England by Single Year of Age and Gender. Release number: SAPE17DT5, Date published: 25 November 2015.

5.3 EARWAX - NORTHERN IRELAND HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES BOARD

Notes:	See section 5.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	People likely to seek help for earwax (all ages)
Time period	Estimates for number of people that might seek help in any given year (base year 2014)
Geography	Northern Ireland Local Government Districts
Data sources	Annual incidence 3.9% (see section 5.1)
	 Population data: Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (2014). Mid-Year Population Estimates. Health & Social Services Board. Estimates for mid- 1991 to mid-2014.

5.4 EARWAX - SCOTLAND HEALTH BOARDS

Notes	See section 5.1 – estimates are subject to significant uncertainty
Indicator	People likely to seek help for earwax (all ages)
Time period	Estimates for number of people that might seek help in any given year (base year 2014)
Geography	Council Areas, Scotland
Data sources	Annual incidence 3.9% (see section 5.1)
	 Population data: ISD Scotland (2014). NHS Board (1st April 2014 configuration) Population Estimates 1981-2014, Last Release: 2014 mid-year population estimates released in April 2015. Source: National Records of Scotland (NRS)

5.5 EARWAX - WALES (HEALTH BOARDS - TBC)

Notes	The NCHA has tried to obtain population data at a Health Board level, but this has not been possible. As soon as we obtain a reliable dataset for 2014 we will update the hearing map.
Indicator	People likely to seek help for earwax (all ages)
Time period	TBC
Geography	TBC
Data sources	TBC

6. SERVICE LEVEL DATA

This section will be added to as we collate and analyse service level data.

6.1. Completed RTT Journeys – England, Clinical Commissioning Groups

Direct access audiology referral to treatment, completed journeys for year end 2014/15. These data are obtained from NHS England.

6.1. Pending Indicators

The NCHA is currently undertaken a series of projects. Data from these projects will be presented in the hearing map whenever this will benefit patients, providers and/or commissioners of services in the UK.

7. REFERENCES

¹ Lie et al (2015). Occupational noise exposure and hearing: a systematic review. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. DOI 10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5; Stephens, G. et al. (2011). Global and regional hearing impairment prevalence: an analysis of 42 studies in 29 countries; Pascolini, D and Smith, A. (2009). Hearing impairment in 2008: A compilation of available epidemiological studies. International Journal of Audiology. 48: 473-485; Davis (1995) The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing, MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London.

² Pascolini, D and Smith, A. (2009). Hearing impairment in 2008: A compilation of available epidemiological studies. International Journal of Audiology. 48: 473-485.

³ Stephens, G. et al. (2011). Global and regional hearing impairment prevalence: an analysis of 42 studies in 29 countries.

⁴ Davis (1995) The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing, MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London. pp.45-46.

⁵ Lie et al (2015), p.16. Occupational noise exposure and hearing: a systematic review. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. DOI 10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5

⁶ Stephens, G. et al. (2011). Global and regional hearing impairment prevalence: an analysis of 42 studies in 29 countries.

⁷ Lie et al (2015) Occupational noise exposure and hearing: a systematic review. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. DOI 10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5

⁸ Davis (1995) The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing, MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London.

⁹ Davis (1995) The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing, MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London. pp.45-46.

¹⁰ Akeryod et al. (2014) Estimates of the number of adults in England, Wales and Scotland with a hearing loss, International Journal of Audiology 2014; 53; 60-61

¹¹ Davis (1995) The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing, MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London. p 822.

¹² Pascolini, D and Smith, A. (2009). Hearing impairment in 2008: A compilation of available epidemiological studies. International Journal of Audiology. 48: 473-485.

¹³ Coles, R.R.A. (1984) Epidemiology of tinnitus: (1) prevalence. Journal of Laryngology and Otology Supplement 9(), 7-15.

¹⁴ Davis, A (1989) The prevalence of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability among adults in Great Britain. International Journal of Epidemiology. Vol. 18. No 4.

¹⁵ Pascolini, D and Smith, A. (2009). Hearing impairment in 2008: A compilation of available epidemiological studies. International Journal of Audiology. 48: 473-485.

¹⁶ Stephens, G. et al. (2011). Global and regional hearing impairment prevalence: an analysis of 42 studies in 29 countries.

¹⁷ Lie et al (2015) Occupational noise exposure and hearing: a systematic review. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. DOI 10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5

Contact us at info@the-ncha.com

¹⁸ Lie et al (2015), Occupational noise exposure and hearing: a systematic review. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. DOI 10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5

¹⁹ Pascolini, D and Smith, A. (2009). Hearing impairment in 2008: A compilation of available epidemiological studies. International Journal of Audiology. 48: 473-485.

²⁰ Davis, Adrian (1995), "Hearing in Adults. The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing", MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London. Tables: B5124-10 to Table B5124-11 (page 47). Prevalence by age group AND Male and Female for the better ear over 0.5, 1, 2 and 4 Hz

²¹ Lie et al (2015), p.16. Occupational noise exposure and hearing: a systematic review. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. DOI 10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5

²² Davis (1995) The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing, MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London.

²³ Pascolini, D and Smith, A. (2009). Hearing impairment in 2008: A compilation of available epidemiological studies. International Journal of Audiology. 48: 473-485.

²⁴ Lie et al (2015). Occupational noise exposure and hearing: a systematic review. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. DOI 10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5

²⁵ Primary Source: Davis, Adrian (1995), "Hearing in Adults. The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing", MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London. Tables: B5124-12 to Table B5124-24 (pages 47-49)

²⁶: Various studies, cited in. Davis, Adrian (1995), "Hearing in Adults. The prevalence and distribution of hearing impairment and reported hearing disability in the MRC Institute Hearing Research's National Study of Hearing", MRC Institute of Hearing Research, Nottingham, Whurr Publishers Limited, London. Table 8.1 from page 822

²⁷ Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, Published literature on the prevalence of hearing loss in children <u>http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/documents/international-hearing-loss-data-table.pdf</u> accessed 1 March 2016

²⁸ Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (2015) Data and Statistics <u>http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/data.html</u> accessed 1 March 2016

²⁹ White et al. (2014) Physiological Diagnostics Services Map 23: Rate of audiology assessments undertaken per weighted population by PCT, in of the Atlas of Variation, Right Care (2013) Atlas of Variation. p.105 <u>http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/downloads/Right_Care_Diagnostics_atlas_low-res.pdf#page=105</u>

³⁰ 0.33% Based on 35,000/(population aged 0-16 in England based on Office for National Statistics Mid-2011 Population Estimates for Clinical Commissioning Group in England by Single Year of Age based on 2011 Census;http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/sape/clinical-commissioning-group-population-estimates/mid-2011--census-based-/stb---clinical-commissioning-groups---mid-2011.html). Note: we could not find the original source of data to assess how child was defined in this particular case – i.e. if a child included people aged up to 19 then the estimated prevalence rate used was likely to be <0.3%.

³¹ White et al. (2014) Physiological Diagnostics Services Map 23: Rate of audiology assessments undertaken per weighted population by PCT, in of the Atlas of Variation, Right Care (2013) Atlas of

Variation. p.105 <u>http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/downloads/Right_Care_Diagnostics_atlas_low-res.pdf#page=105;</u> Kent County Council (2012), Sensory Needs Assessment. Table 15. p.36

³² Møller, A. 2011. Epidemiology of Tinnitus.pp 29-39 Chapter five in Textbook of Tinnitus. Springer New York Dordrecht Heidelberg London. ISBN 978-1-607761-144-8

³³ Møller, A. 2011. Epidemiology of Tinnitus.pp 29-39 Chapter five in Textbook of Tinnitus. Springer New York Dordrecht Heidelberg London. ISBN 978-1-607761-144-8

³⁴Davis, A and El Rafaie. A. Epidemiology of Tinnitus.Cited in Tyler (E.d). Tinnitus handbook. Cited in Ceranic and Luxon, 238f pp.3594-3619. Scott-Brown's Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Volume 3. Edward Arnold (Publishers) Ltd and BMJ Best Practice, Tinnitus, 22 Jan 2016

³⁵ Møller, A. 2011. Epidemiology of Tinnitus.pp 29-39 Chapter five in Textbook of Tinnitus. Springer New York Dordrecht Heidelberg London. ISBN 978-1-607761-144-8

³⁶ Coles, R.R.A. (1984) Epidemiology of tinnitus: (1) prevalence. Journal of Laryngology and Otology Supplement 9(), 7-15.

³⁷ Coles, R.R.A. (1984) Epidemiology of tinnitus: (1) prevalence. Journal of Laryngology and Otology Supplement 9(), 7-15.

³⁸ Clegg et al. (2010) The safety and effectiveness of different methods of ear wax removal: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assessment http://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta/volume-14/issue-28 accessed 15 January 2016.

³⁹ NICE (2012), Earwax, Clinical Knowledge Summaries, <u>http://cks.nice.org.uk/earwax#!topicsummary</u> accessed 15 January 2016

⁴⁰ GUEST, J.F et al. (2004) Impacted cerumen: composition, production, epidemiology and management. Q J Med; 97:477–488